AMERICAN EAGLE OUTFITTERS INC Form 10-Q September 06, 2007

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended August 4, 2007

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number: 1-33338

American Eagle Outfitters, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction

of incorporation or organization)

No. 13-2721761 (I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

77 Hot Metal Street, Pittsburgh, PA15203-2329(Address of principal executive offices)(Zip Code)Registrant s telephone number, including area code: (412) 432-3300

Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report:

150 Thorn Hill Drive, Warrendale, PA 15086-7528

(724) 776-4857

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to the filing requirements for at least the past 90 days. YES x NO $\ddot{}$

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of accelerated filer and large accelerated filer in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

x Large accelerated filer "Accelerated filer "Non-accelerated filer

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). YES "NO x

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date: 214,907,297 Common Shares were outstanding at August 31, 2007.

AMERICAN EAGLE OUTFITTERS, INC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.	Financial Statements	
	Consolidated Balance Sheets August 4, 2007, February 3, 2007 and July 29, 2006	3
	Consolidated Statements of Operations and Retained Earnings 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 and July 29, 2006	4
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 and July 29, 2006	5
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	6
	Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	16
Item 2.	Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	17
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	24
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	24
	PART II - OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	N/A
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	25
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	26
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	N/A
Item 4.	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	26
Item 5.	Other Information	N/A
Item 6.	Exhibits	27

PART I

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

AMERICAN EAGLE OUTFITTERS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	August 4,	February 3,	July 29,
(In thousands, except per share amounts)	2007 (Unaudited)	2007	2006 (Unaudited)
Assets	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		` ´
Current assets:			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 123,717	\$ 59,737	\$ 331,358
Short-term investments	510,888	767,376	482,732
Merchandise inventory	321,263	263,644	267,392
Accounts and note receivable	29,783	26,045	13,290
Prepaid expenses and other	61,353	33,720	33,953
Deferred income taxes	44,194	51,886	40,507
Total current assets	1,091,198	1,202,408	1,169,232
Property and equipment, at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization	552,218	481,645	404,390
Goodwill	9,950	9,950	9,950
Long-term investments	125,120	251,644	117,291
Non-current deferred income taxes	48,806	30,340	27,382
Other assets, net	20,223	15,651	11,858
Total assets	\$ 1,847,515	\$ 1,991,638	\$ 1,740,103
Liabilities and Stockholders Equity Current liabilities:			
Accounts payable	\$ 146,431	\$ 171,150	\$ 175,934
Accrued compensation and payroll taxes	35,099	58,371	26,542
Accrued rent	56,259	57,543	49,954
Accrued income and other taxes	13,290	91,934	38,934
Unredeemed gift cards and gift certificates	30,093	54,554	25,371
Current portion of deferred lease credits	12,787	12,803	10,402
Other liabilities and accrued expenses	19,307	18,263	15,026
Total current liabilities	313,266	464,618	342,163
Non-current liabilities:			
Deferred lease credits	64,472	65,114	60,036
Non-current accrued income taxes	52,514		
Other non-current liabilities	42,425	44,594	44,516
Total non-current liabilities	159,411	109,708	104,552
Commitments and contingencies			
Stockholders equity:			
Preferred stock, \$0.01 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding	2,481	2,461	2,445
	_,	_,	_,

Common stock, \$0.01 par value; 600,000 shares authorized; 248,777, 248,155 and 246,275 shares issued, respectively; 216,573, 221,284 and 224,092 shares outstanding, respectively

issued, respectively, 210,375, 221,284 and 224,092 shares outstanding, respectively			
Contributed capital	479,450	453,418	403,007
Accumulated other comprehensive income	29,381	21,714	25,054
Retained earnings	1,405,414	1,302,345	1,087,012
Treasury stock, 31,499, 25,699 and 20,977 shares, respectively	(541,888)	(362,626)	(224,130)
Total stockholders equity	1,374,838	1,417,312	1,293,388
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 1,847,515	\$ 1,991,638	\$ 1,740,103

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

AMERICAN EAGLE OUTFITTERS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND RETAINED EARNINGS

(Unaudited)

	13 Weeks Ended August 4, July 29,			26 Weeks E August 4,			ded July 29,	
(In thousands, except per share amounts)		2007		2006		2007		2006
Net sales	\$	703,189	\$	602,326	\$1	1,315,575	\$ 1	1,124,754
Cost of sales, including certain buying, occupancy and warehousing expenses (exclusive of depreciation shown separately below)		386,742		327,065		700,669		595,124
Gross profit		316,447		275,261		614,906		529,630
Selling, general and administrative expenses		166,386		142,772		323,375		277,441
Depreciation and amortization expense		27,375		23,237		52,857		44,671
Operating income Other income, net		122,686 8,766		109,252 8,969		238,674 20,067		207,518 17,065
		,		,		,		,
Income before income taxes		131,452		118,221		258,741		224,583
Provision for income taxes		50,108		46,122		98,627		88,328
Net income	\$	81,344	\$	72,099	\$	160,114	\$	136,255
Basic income per common share	\$	0.37	\$	0.32	\$	0.73	\$	0.61
Diluted income per common share	\$	0.37	\$	0.31	\$	0.71	\$	0.60
Cash dividends per common share	\$	0.10	\$	0.08	\$	0.18	\$	0.13
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic		217,790		223,805		219,409		223,260
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted		222,044		229,211		223,943		228,610
Retained earnings, beginning (for the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007, refer to	.	,	<i>.</i>	,	.	,	<i>.</i>	
Note 6 for information regarding the adoption of FIN 48)	\$1	,350,400	\$ 1	1,031,796	\$1	1,289,041	\$	978,855
Net Income		81,344		72,099		160,114		136,255
Cash dividends		(21,702)		(16,883)		(38,222)		(28,098)
Reissuance of treasury stock		(4,628)				(5,519)		
Retained earnings, ending	\$1	,405,414	\$ 1	1,087,012	\$ 1	1,405,414	\$ 1	1,087,012

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

AMERICAN EAGLE OUTFITTERS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

(In thousands)	26 Week August 4, 2007	ts Ended July 29, 2006
(In thousands) Operating activities:	2007	2006
Net income	\$ 160,114	\$ 136,255
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:	\$ 100,114	\$ 150,255
Depreciation and amortization	52,857	44,671
Share-based compensation	19,686	16,196
Deferred income taxes	(18,976)	(7,554)
Tax benefit from share-based payments	6,916	7,738
Excess tax benefit from share-based payments	(5,754)	(5,862)
Loss on impairment of assets	(3,754)	150
Proceeds from sale of trading securities		183,968
Changes in assets and liabilities:		105,700
Merchandise inventory	(55,137)	(56,444)
Accounts and note receivable	(3,937)	12,161
Prepaid expenses and other	(27,337)	(3,656)
Other assets, net	(3,125)	(1,208)
Accounts payable	(26,216)	36,557
Unredeemed gift cards and gift certificates	(24,817)	(17,713)
Deferred lease credits	(1,127)	758
Accrued liabilities	(58,648)	(18,452)
Actual habilities	(56,046)	(10,452)
Total adjustments	(145,615)	191,310
Net cash provided by operating activities	14,499	327,565
Investing activities:		
Capital expenditures	(120,322)	(103,149)
Proceeds from sale of assets		12,345
Purchase of investments	(435,546)	(211,476)
Sale of investments	822,547	194,450
Other investing activities	(820)	
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities	265,859	(107,830)
Financing activities:	,	
Payments on capital leases	(846)	(470)
Repurchase of common stock as part of publicly announced programs	(184,761)	()
Repurchase of common stock from employees	(12,249)	(7,617)
Net proceeds from stock options exercised	11,691	10,263
Excess tax benefit from share-based payments	5,754	5,862
Cash dividends paid	(38,222)	(28,098)
Net cash used for financing activities	(218,633)	(20,060)
Effect of exchange rates on cash	2,255	1,154
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	63,980	200,829
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period	59,737	130,529
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period	\$ 123,717	\$ 331,358

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:		
Cash paid during the period for income taxes \$	164,446	\$ 99,615
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions:		
Transfer of investment securities from available-for-sale to trading classification		\$ 180,787

AMERICAN EAGLE OUTFITTERS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Interim Financial Statements

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of American Eagle Outfitters, Inc. (the Company) at August 4, 2007 and July 29, 2006 and for the 13 and 26 week periods ended August 4, 2007 (the current period) and July 29, 2006 (the prior period) have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for complete financial statements. Certain notes and other information have been condensed or omitted from the interim Consolidated Financial Statements presented in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Therefore, these Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the Company s Fiscal 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K. In the opinion of our management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included.

As used in this report, all references to we, our, and the Company refer to American Eagle Outfitters, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. American Eagle Outfitters, American Eagle, AE, and the AE Brand refer to our U.S. and Canadian American Eagle Outfitters stores, including the aerie sub-brand and ae.com. MARTIN + OSA refers to our sportswear concept launched during Fiscal 2006.

The Company s business is affected by the pattern of seasonality common to most retail apparel businesses. The results for the current and prior periods are not necessarily indicative of future financial results.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Fiscal Year

The Company s financial year is a 52/53 week year that ends on the Saturday nearest to January 31. As used herein, Fiscal 2009, Fiscal 2008 and Fiscal 2007 refer to the 52 week periods ending January 30, 2010, January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, respectively. Fiscal 2006 refers to the 53 week period ended February 3, 2007. Fiscal 2005 refers to the 52 week period ended January 28, 2006.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of our contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. On an ongoing basis, our management reviews its estimates based on currently available information. Changes in facts and circumstances may result in revised estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Canadian dollar is the functional currency for the Canadian business. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 52, *Foreign Currency Translation*, assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies were translated into U.S. dollars (the reporting currency) at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies were translated into U.S. dollars at the monthly average exchange rate for the period. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in the results of operations, whereas, related translation adjustments are reported as an element of other comprehensive income in accordance with SFAS No. 130, *Reporting Comprehensive Income* (see Note 5 of the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the FASB) issued SFAS No. 159, *The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities* (SFAS No. 159). SFAS No. 159 provides companies with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The statement also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements to facilitate comparisons between companies that choose different measurement attributes for similar assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and the Company will adopt SFAS No. 159 in connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 157, *Fair Value Measurements* (SFAS No. 157), in the first quarter of Fiscal 2008. The Company does not believe that the adoption of SFAS No. 159 will have a material impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157. SFAS No. 157 addresses how companies should measure fair value when they are required to use fair value as a measure for recognition or disclosure purposes under generally accepted accounting principles. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and the Company will adopt SFAS No. 157 beginning in the first quarter of Fiscal 2008. The Company does not believe that the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have a material impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recorded for store sales upon the purchase of merchandise by customers. The Company s e-commerce operation records revenue upon the estimated customer receipt date of the merchandise. Shipping and handling revenues are included in net sales. Sales tax collected from customers is excluded from revenue and is included as part of accrued income and other taxes on the Company s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Revenue is recorded net of estimated and actual sales returns and deductions for coupon redemptions and other promotions. The Company records the impact of adjustments to its sales return reserve quarterly within net sales and cost of sales. The sales return reserve reflects an estimate of sales returns based on projected merchandise returns determined through the use of historical average return percentages.

Revenue is not recorded on the purchase of gift cards. A current liability is recorded upon purchase and revenue is recognized when the gift card is redeemed for merchandise. Additionally, the Company recognizes revenue on unredeemed gift cards based on an estimate of the amounts that will not be redeemed (gift card breakage), determined through historical redemption trends. Gift card breakage revenue is recognized in proportion to actual gift card redemptions as a component of net sales. For further information on a change in the Company's gift card program, see the Gift Cards caption below.

During the 13 weeks ended October 28, 2006, the Company reclassified sell-offs of end-of-season, overstock and irregular merchandise and presented the amounts on a gross basis, with proceeds and cost of sell-offs recorded in net sales and cost of sales, respectively. Prior to this, the Company presented the proceeds and cost of sell-offs on a net basis within cost of sales. For the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007, the Company recorded \$2.9 million and \$13.7 million of proceeds and \$2.8 million and \$14.7 million of cost of sell-offs in net sales and cost of sales, respectively. Proceeds of \$10.4 million and costs of \$13.3 million for the 13 and 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006 were not reclassified to reflect this change as the amounts were determined to be immaterial.

Cost of Sales, Including Certain Buying, Occupancy and Warehousing Expenses

Cost of sales consists of merchandise costs, including design, sourcing, importing and inbound freight costs, as well as markdowns, shrinkage and certain promotional costs. Buying, occupancy and warehousing costs consist of: compensation, employee benefit expenses and travel for our buyers and certain senior merchandising executives; rent and utilities related to our stores, corporate headquarters, distribution centers and other office space; freight from our distribution centers to the stores; compensation and supplies for our distribution centers, including purchasing, receiving and inspection costs; and shipping and handling costs related to our e-commerce operation.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of compensation and employee benefit expenses, including salaries, incentives and related benefits associated with our stores and corporate headquarters. Selling, general and administrative expenses also include advertising costs, supplies for our stores and home office, communication costs, travel and entertainment, leasing costs and services purchased. Selling, general and administrative expenses do not include compensation, employee benefit expenses and travel for our design, sourcing and importing teams, our buyers and our distribution centers as these amounts are recorded in cost of sales.

When the Company closes, remodels or relocates a store prior to the end of its lease term, the remaining net book value of the assets related to the store is recorded as a write-off of assets. Prior to February 3, 2007, the Company recorded this write-off of assets within selling, general and administrative expenses. However, the Company has determined that classification within depreciation and amortization expense is more appropriate. Accordingly, the Company recorded \$2.1 million and \$5.0 million related to asset write-offs within depreciation and amortization expense for the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007, respectively. Amounts of \$1.5 million and \$3.7 million for the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006, respectively, have been reclassified for comparative purposes.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net consists primarily of interest income as well as interest expense and foreign currency transaction gain/loss. As of July 8, 2007, the Company discontinued assessing a service fee on inactive gift cards. Prior to July 8, 2007, the Company recorded gift card service fee income in other income, net. For the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007, the Company recorded gift card service fee income of \$0.2 million and \$0.8 million, respectively. For the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006, the Company recorded gift card service fee of \$0.5 million and \$1.1 million, respectively.

Gift Cards

The value of a gift card is recorded as a current liability upon purchase and revenue is recognized when the gift card is redeemed for merchandise. Prior to July 8, 2007, if a gift card remained inactive for greater than 24 months, the Company assessed the recipient a one-dollar per month service fee, where allowed by law, which was automatically deducted from the remaining value of the card. For those jurisdictions where assessing a service fee was not allowable by law, the estimated breakage was recorded in a manner consistent with that described above, starting after 24 months of inactivity. Both gift card service fees and breakage estimates were recorded within other income, net.

On July 8, 2007, the Company discontinued assessing a service fee on inactive gift cards. As a result, the Company estimates gift card breakage and recognizes revenue in proportion to actual gift card redemptions as a component of net sales. The Company determines an estimated gift card breakage rate by continuously evaluating historical redemption data and the time when there is a remote likelihood that a gift card will be redeemed. The Company recorded \$4.8 million of revenue related to gift card breakage during the 13 weeks ended August 4, 2007. This amount included cumulative breakage revenue related to gift cards issued since the Company introduced its gift card program.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Short-term Investments and Long-term Investments

Cash includes cash equivalents. The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of 13 weeks or less to be cash equivalents.

As of August 4, 2007, short-term investments generally included investments with remaining maturities of less than 12 months (averaging approximately two months), consisting primarily of tax-exempt municipal bonds, taxable agency bonds and corporate notes classified as available-for-sale. Additionally, short-term investments include variable rate demand notes (VRDNs) and auction rate securities classified as available-for-sale, which have long-term contractual maturities but feature variable interest rates that reset at short-term intervals.

As of August 4, 2007, long-term investments included investments with remaining maturities of greater than 12 months, but not exceeding five years (averaging approximately 30 months) and consisted primarily of agency bonds classified as available-for-sale.

Unrealized gains and losses on the Company s available-for-sale securities are excluded from earnings and are reported as a separate component of stockholders equity, within accumulated other comprehensive income, until realized. When available-for-sale securities are sold, the cost of the securities is specifically identified and is used to determine any realized gain or loss. Proceeds from the sale of available-for-sale securities were \$822.5 million and \$194.5 million for the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 and July 29, 2006, respectively. These proceeds are offset against purchases of \$435.5 million and \$211.5 million for the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 and July 29, 2006, respectively. For the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007, realized losses related to available-for-sale securities of \$0.2 million and \$0.4 million, respectively, were included in other income, net. For the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006, realized losses related to available-for-sale securities of \$0.5 million were included in other income, net.

During the 13 weeks ended April 29, 2006, the Company transferred certain investment securities from available-for-sale classification to trading classification (the trading securities). As a result of this transfer, during the 13 weeks ended April 29, 2006, a reclassification adjustment of \$(0.3) million was recorded in other comprehensive income related to the gain realized in net income at the time of transfer. As a result of trading classification, the Company realized \$3.5 million of capital gains, which were recorded in other income, net during the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006. The trading securities were sold during the 13 weeks ended July 29, 2006, at which time the Company received proceeds of \$184.0 million. As of August 4, 2007, the Company had no investments classified as trading securities.

The following table summarizes the fair market value of our cash and marketable securities, which are recorded as cash and cash equivalents on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, our short-term investments and our long-term investments:

(In thousands)	August 4, 2007	February 3, 2007	July 29, 2006
Cash and cash equivalents:			
Cash and money market investments	\$ 91,010	\$ 59,079	\$ 95,550
Tax exempt and advantaged investments	31,779		2,700
Taxable investments	928	658	233,108
Total cash and cash equivalents	123,717	59,737	331,358
Short-term investments:			
Tax exempt and advantaged investments	356,579	659,906	423,953
Taxable investments	154,309	107,470	58,779
Total short-term investments	510,888	767,376	482,732
Long-term investments:			
Tax exempt and advantaged investments		7,477	
Taxable investments	125,120	244,167	117,291
Total long-term investments	125,120	251,644	117,291
Total	\$ 759,725	\$ 1,078,757	\$ 931,381

Merchandise Inventory

Merchandise inventory is valued at the lower of average cost or market, utilizing the retail method. Average cost includes merchandise design and sourcing costs and related expenses. The Company records merchandise receipts at the time merchandise is delivered to the foreign shipping port by the manufacturer (FOB port). This is the point at which title and risk of loss transfer to the Company.

The Company reviews its inventory levels in order to identify slow-moving merchandise and generally uses markdowns to clear merchandise. Additionally, the Company estimates a markdown reserve for future planned markdowns related to current inventory. Markdowns may occur when inventory exceeds customer demand for reasons of style, seasonal adaptation, changes in customer preference, lack of consumer acceptance of fashion items, competition, or if it is determined that the inventory in stock will not sell at its currently ticketed price. Such markdowns may have a material adverse impact on earnings, depending on the extent and amount of inventory affected. The Company also estimates a shrinkage reserve for the period between the last physical count and the balance sheet date. The estimate for the shrinkage reserve can be affected by changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual shrinkage trends.

Income Taxes

The Company calculates income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, *Accounting for Income Taxes*. Effective February 4, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, *Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes* An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 prescribes a comprehensive model for recognizing, measuring, presenting and disclosing in the financial statements tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return, including a decision whether to file or not to file in a particular jurisdiction. Under FIN 48, a tax benefit from an uncertain position may be recognized only if it is more likely than not that the position is sustainable based on its technical merits. See Note 6 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the adoption of FIN 48.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded on the basis of cost with depreciation computed utilizing the straight-line method over the assets estimated useful lives. The useful lives of our major classes of assets are as follows:

Buildings	25 years
Leasehold Improvements	Lesser of 5 to 10 years or the term of the lease
Fixtures and equipment	3 to 5 years
In accordance with SEAS No. 144	Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of I on

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, *Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long Lived Assets* (SFAS No. 144), our management evaluates the ongoing value of leasehold improvements and store fixtures associated with retail stores, which have been open longer than one year. Impairment losses are recorded on long-lived assets used in operations when events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the carrying amounts of the assets. When events such as these occur, the impaired assets are adjusted to their estimated fair value and an impairment loss is recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses. No impairment losses were recognized during the 13 weeks or 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 or during the 13 weeks ended July 29, 2006. The Company recognized impairment losses of \$0.2 million during the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006.

Goodwill

As of August 4, 2007, the Company had approximately \$10.0 million of goodwill, which is primarily related to the acquisition of its importing operations on January 31, 2000. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets*, our management evaluates goodwill for possible impairment on at least an annual basis.

Deferred Lease Credits

Deferred lease credits represent the unamortized portion of construction allowances received from landlords related to the Company s retail stores. Construction allowances are generally comprised of cash amounts received by the Company from its landlords as part of the negotiated lease terms. The Company records a receivable and a deferred lease credit liability at the lease commencement date (date of initial possession of the store). The deferred lease credit is amortized on a straight-line basis as a reduction of rent expense over the term of the lease (including the pre-opening build-out period) and the receivable is reduced as amounts are received from the landlord.

Customer Loyalty Program

The Company offers its AE Brand customers a loyalty program, the AE All-Access Pass (the Pass). Using the Pass, customers accumulate points based on purchase activity and earn rewards by reaching certain point thresholds during three-month earning periods. Rewards earned during these periods are valid through the stated expiration date, which is approximately one-month from the mailing date of the reward certificate to the customer. These rewards can be redeemed for a discount on a purchase of AE merchandise. Rewards not redeemed during the one-month redemption period are forfeited. A current liability is recorded for the estimated cost of anticipated redemptions and the impact of adjustments to the liability is recorded in cost of sales.

Stock Repurchases

On March 6, 2007 and then, additionally, on May 22, 2007, the Company s Board of Directors (the Board) authorized a total of 30.0 million shares of its common stock to be repurchased under the Company s share repurchase program through the end of Fiscal 2009. During the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007, the Company repurchased 6.5 million shares of its common stock for approximately \$184.8 million, at a weighted average share price of \$28.41. As of August 4, 2007, the Company had 23.5 million shares available for repurchase. These shares may be repurchased at the Company s discretion. See Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for information on a subsequent event related to the Company s stock repurchase program.

During each of the 26 week periods ended August 4, 2007 and July 29, 2006, the Company repurchased approximately 0.4 million shares from certain employees at market prices totaling approximately \$12.2 million and \$7.6 million, respectively. These shares were repurchased for the payment of taxes in connection with the vesting of share-based compensation, as permitted under the 2005 Stock Award (the 2005 Plan) and Incentive Plan and the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (the 1999 Plan).

All of the aforementioned share repurchases have been recorded as treasury stock.

Stock Split

On November 13, 2006, the Board approved a three-for-two stock split. This stock split was distributed on December 18, 2006, to stockholders of record on November 24, 2006. All share amounts and per share data presented herein have been restated to reflect this stock split.

Earnings Per Share

The following table shows the amounts used in computing earnings per share.

	13 Weeks Ended		26 Week	s Ended
	August 4,	July 29,	August 4,	July 29,
(In thousands)	2007	2006	2007	2006
Net income	\$ 81,344	\$ 72,099	\$ 160,114	\$ 136,255
Weighted average common shares outstanding:				
Basic shares	217,790	223,805	219,409	223,260
Dilutive effect of stock options and non-vested restricted stock	4,254	5,406	4,534	5,350
Diluted shares	222,044	229,211	223,943	228,610

Equity awards to purchase approximately 2.8 million shares of common stock during the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 and approximately 2.8 million and 3.0 million shares of common stock during the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006, respectively, were outstanding, but were not included in the computation of weighted average diluted common share amounts as the effect of doing so would have been anti-dilutive. Additionally, for the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007, approximately 0.6 million shares of performance-based restricted stock were not included in the computation of weighted average diluted common share amounts because the number of shares ultimately issued is contingent on the Company s performance compared to pre-established annual EPS performance goals. For the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended July 29, 2007, approximately 1.1 million shares of performance-based restricted stock were not included in the computation of weighted average diluted common share amounts because the number of shares ultimately issued is contingent on the Company s performance compared to pre-established annual EPS performance goals. For the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended July 29, 2007, approximately 1.1 million shares of performance-based restricted stock were not included in the computation of weighted average diluted common share amounts is contingent on the computation shares of performance-based restricted stock were not included in the computation of weighted average diluted common share amounts.

Segment Information

In accordance with SFAS No. 131, *Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information* (SFAS No. 131), the Company has identified four operating segments (American Eagle U.S. retail stores, American Eagle Canadian retail stores, ae.com and MARTIN + OSA) that reflect the basis used internally to review performance and allocate resources. Three of the operating segments (American Eagle U.S. retail stores, American Eagle Canadian retail stores and ae.com, collectively the AE brand) have been aggregated and are presented as one reportable segment, as permitted by SFAS No. 131, based on their similar economic characteristics, products, production processes, target customers and distribution methods. Our intimates sub-brand, aerie by American Eagle, was not identified as a separate operating segment under SFAS No. 131 as it is reviewed and operated as a component of the operating segments comprising the AE brand. At the end of the current period, MARTIN + OSA was determined to be immaterial for segment reporting purposes. Therefore, the Company has combined MARTIN + OSA with the AE Brand operating segment as one reportable segment. The Company will continue to monitor the materiality of MARTIN + OSA and will present it as a separate reportable segment at the time it becomes material to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Reclassification

Certain reclassifications have been made to the Consolidated Financial Statements for prior periods in order to conform to the current period presentation.

3. Share-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for share-based compensation under the provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), *Share-Based Payment* (SFAS No. 123(R)), which requires companies to measure and recognize compensation expense for all share-based compensation at fair value. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company recognizes

compensation expense for stock option awards and time-based restricted stock awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award (or to an employee s eligible retirement date, if earlier). Performance-based restricted stock awards are recognized as compensation expense based on the fair value of the Company s common stock on the date of grant, the number of shares ultimately expected to vest and the vesting period.

Total share-based compensation expense included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 was \$7.2 million (\$4.4 million, net of tax) and \$19.7 million (\$12.1 million, net of tax), respectively, and for the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006, was \$7.7 million (\$4.8 million, net of tax) and \$16.1 million (\$10.0 million, net of tax), respectively.

Stock Option Grants

A summary of the Company s stock option activity for the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 follows:

	20	6 Weeks Ended August 4, 2007 (1) Weighted-					
		Average					
		Weighted- Remaining Agg			ggregate		
		Average		ge Contractual		ntrinsic	
		Е	xercise	Term		Value	
	Options		Price	(in years)	(in	thousands)	
Outstanding - February 3, 2007	12,209,342	\$	11.24				
Granted	2,356,973	\$	29.80				
Exercised (2)	(1,096,438)	\$	10.09				
Cancelled	(305,048)	\$	21.51				
Outstanding - August 4, 2007	13,164,829	\$	14.42	5.2	\$	137,260	
Vested and expected to vest - August 4, 2007	12,769,126	\$	14.23	5.1	\$	135,353	
Exercisable - August 4, 2007	8,077,062	\$	8.66	4.4	\$	119,861	

(1) As of August 4, 2007, the Company had approximately 7.4 million shares available for stock option grants.

(2) Options exercised during the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 had exercise prices ranging from \$0.62 to \$20.77.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 was \$10.68, and the weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006 was \$6.49. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 was \$20.8 million. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006 was \$21.5 million.

Cash received from the exercise of stock options was \$11.7 million for the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 and \$10.3 million for the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006. The actual tax benefit realized from stock option exercises totaled \$6.9 million for the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 and \$7.7 million for the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006.

The fair value of stock options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

26 Weeks Ended August 4, July 29,

	2007	2006
Black-Scholes Option Valuation Assumptions		
Risk-free interest rates (1)	4.5%	4.9%
Dividend yield	0.9%	1.0%
Volatility factors of the expected market price of the Company s common stock (2)	39.2%	41.3%
Weighted-average expected term (3)	4.4 years	4.5 years
Expected forfeiture rate (4)	8.0%	8.0%

(1) Based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant with a term consistent with the expected life of our stock options.

- (2) Based on a combination of historical volatility of the Company s common stock and implied volatility.
- (3) Represents the period of time options are expected to be outstanding. The weighted average expected option term was determined using a combination of the simplified method for plain vanilla options as allowed by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, *Share-Based Payments* (SAB No. 107), and past behavior. The simplified method calculates the expected term as the average of the vesting term and original contractual term of the options.
- (4) Based upon historical experience.

As of August 4, 2007, there was \$27.4 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested stock option awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.2 years.

Restricted Stock Grants

The Company grants both time-based and performance-based restricted stock awards under its 2005 Plan. The time-based restricted stock awards vest over three years and performance-based restricted stock awards are earned if certain pre-established goals are met. The grant date fair value of the restricted stock awards are based on the closing market price of the Company s common stock on the date of grant. A summary of the Company s restricted stock activity is presented in the following tables.

	26 W	26 Weeks Ended			
	Aug	ugust 4, 2007 Weighted-			
		Avera	ige Grant		
	Shares	Date F	air Value		
Time-Based Restricted Stock					
Nonvested - February 3, 2007 (1)	138,000	\$	16.63		
Granted					
Vested	(60,000)	\$	12.12		
Cancelled					
Nonvested - August 4, 2007	78,000	\$	20.10		

(1) Nonvested time-based restricted stock at February 3, 2007 includes 45,000 shares issued under the 1999 Plan. Under the 1999 Plan, awards were valued using the average of the high and low market price of the Company s common stock on the date of grant.

26 Weeks Ended

626,461

August 4, 2007 Weighted-

\$

	Shares	age Grant Fair Value
Performance-Based Restricted Stock		
Nonvested - February 3, 2007	1,034,075	\$ 17.93
Granted	662,550	\$ 29.71
Vested	(1,029,575)	\$ 17.93
Cancelled	(40,589)	\$ 27.86

Nonvested - August 4, 2007

As of August 4, 2007, there was \$14.1 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested restricted stock awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 8 months.

4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following:

29.75

(In thousands)	August 4, 2007	February 3, 2007	July 29, 2006
Property and equipment, at cost	\$ 965,085	\$ 857,690	\$ 752,028
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization	(412,867)	(376,045)	(347,638)
Net property and equipment	\$ 552,218	\$ 481,645	\$ 404,390

5. Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is comprised of the following:

	13 Weeks Ended August		26 Weeks Ended	
(In thousands)	4, 2007	July 29, 2006	August 4, 2007	July 29, 2006
Net Income	\$ 81,344	\$ 72,099	\$ 160,114	\$ 136,255
Other comprehensive income (loss):				
Unrealized (loss) gain on investments, net of tax	(420)	239	(238)	(49)
Reclassification adjustment for loss realized in net income related to the sale of				
available-for-sale securities, net of tax	129	298	261	298
Reclassification adjustment for gain realized in net income related to the transfer of				
investment securities from available-for-sale classification to trading classification, net of				
tax				(177)
Foreign currency translation adjustment	3,141	(1,167)	7,644	2,076
Reclassification adjustment for loss realized in net income related to the disposition of				
National Logistics Services				878
Other comprehensive income (loss):	2,850	(630)	7,667	3,026
-				
Total comprehensive income	\$ 84,194	\$71,469	\$ 167,781	\$ 139,281

6. Income Taxes

For the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007, the effective tax rate used for the provision of income tax approximated 38.1%. For the 13 weeks and 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006, the effective tax rate used for the provision of income tax approximated 39.0% and 39.3%, respectively. The lower effective tax rate during Fiscal 2007 is primarily due to an increase in tax exempt interest income and the additional tax liability recorded during the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006 related to the repatriation of unremitted Canadian earnings.

Effective February 4, 2007, the Company adopted FIN 48, which prescribes a comprehensive model for recognizing, measuring, presenting and disclosing in the financial statements tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return, including a decision whether to file or not to file in a particular jurisdiction. Under FIN 48, a tax benefit from an uncertain position may be recognized only if it is more likely than not that the position is sustainable based on its technical merits.

As a result of adopting FIN 48, the Company recorded a net liability of approximately \$13.3 million for unrecognized tax benefits, which was accounted for as a reduction to the beginning balance of retained earnings as of February 4, 2007. As of February 4, 2007, the gross amount of unrecognized tax benefits was \$39.3 million, of which \$27.6 million would affect the effective tax rate if recognized. The gross amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of August 4, 2007 was \$46.2 million, of which \$32.9 million would affect the effective tax rate if recognized. The Company does not believe that its unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change within the next twelve months.

The Company records accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. The Company had approximately \$8.8 million in interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits accrued as of February 4, 2007. The amount of accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as of August 4, 2007 was \$10.2 million.

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal income tax examinations by tax authorities for tax years prior to July 2003. The examination of the Company s U.S. federal income tax returns for tax years ended July 2003 to July 2005 is anticipated to be substantially completed by the end of 2007. The Company does not anticipate that any adjustments will result in a material change to its financial position. With respect to state and local jurisdictions and countries outside of the United States, with limited exceptions, generally, the Company and its subsidiaries are no longer subject to income tax audits for tax years before 2001. Although the outcome of tax audits is always uncertain, the Company believes that adequate amounts of tax, interest and penalties have been provided for any adjustments that are expected to result from these years.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. FAS 109-2, *Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004* (FSP No. 109-2). FSP No. 109-2 provides guidance to companies to determine how the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the Act) affects a company s accounting for the deferred tax liabilities on unremitted foreign earnings. The Act provided for a special one-time deduction of 85% of certain foreign earnings that are repatriated and that meet certain requirements. During Fiscal 2006, the Company repatriated \$83.4 million as extraordinary dividends from its Canadian subsidiaries. In anticipation of the repatriation, the Company had recorded \$0.6 million of income tax expense related to this repatriation during the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006, in addition to the \$3.8 million income tax liability that had been previously recorded in Fiscal 2005.

The decision to take advantage of the special one-time deduction under the Act is a discrete event, and it has not changed the Company s intention to indefinitely reinvest accumulated earnings from its Canadian operations to the extent not repatriated under the Act. Accordingly, no provision has been made for income taxes that would be payable upon the distributions of such earnings.

7. Legal Proceedings

The Company is subject to certain legal proceedings and claims arising out of the conduct of its business. In accordance with SFAS No. 5, *Accounting for Contingencies*, our management records a reserve for estimated losses when the loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If a range of possible loss exists, the Company records the accrual at the low end of the range, in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 14, *Reasonable Estimation of the Amount of a Loss-an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 5*. As the Company believes that it has provided adequate reserves, it anticipates that the ultimate outcome of any matter currently pending against the Company will not materially affect the consolidated financial position or results of operations of the Company.

8. Subsequent Events

Subsequent to the second quarter of Fiscal 2007, the Company repurchased 2.4 million shares of its common stock under the March 6, 2007 and May 22, 2007 repurchase authorizations. The shares were repurchased for approximately \$58.5 million, at a weighted average share price of \$24.34. As of September 4, 2007, the Company had 21.1 million shares available for repurchase under the May 22, 2007 authorization. These shares may be repurchased at the Company s discretion. See Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the Company s repurchase program.

Review by Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has performed a limited review of the unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements for the 13 and 26 week periods ended August 4, 2007 and July 29, 2006, as indicated in their report on the limited review included below. Since they did not perform an audit, they express no opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements referred to above. Our management has given effect to any significant adjustments and disclosures proposed in the course of the limited review.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

American Eagle Outfitters, Inc.

We have reviewed the consolidated balance sheets of American Eagle Outfitters, Inc. (the Company) as of August 4, 2007 and July 29, 2006, the related consolidated statements of operations and retained earnings for the three and six month periods ended August 4, 2007 and July 29, 2006, and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the six month periods ended August 4, 2007 and July 29, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management.

We conducted our reviews in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the consolidated financial statements referred to above for them to be in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheet of American Eagle Outfitters, Inc. as of February 3, 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders equity, and cash flows for the year then ended not presented herein, and in our report dated April 2, 2007, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of February 3, 2007, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

September 4, 2007

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements and should be read in conjunction with these statements and notes thereto.

This report contains various forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which represent our expectations or beliefs concerning future events, including the following:

the planned opening of approximately 32 American Eagle stores in the United States and Canada, 37 aerie stores and 14 MARTIN + OSA stores in the United States during Fiscal 2007;

the selection of approximately 53 American Eagle stores in the United States for remodeling during Fiscal 2007;

the completion of improvements and expansion at our distribution centers;

the success of MARTIN + OSA;

the success of our intimates sub-brand, aerie by American Eagle;

the expected payment of a dividend in future periods; and

the possibility of growth through acquisitions and/or internally developing additional new brands. We caution that these forward-looking statements, and those described elsewhere in this report, involve material risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on factors beyond our control as discussed within Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Item 1A of our Fiscal 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Accordingly, our future performance and financial results may differ materially from those expressed or implied in any such forward-looking statements.

Key Performance Indicators

Our management evaluates the following items, which are considered key performance indicators, in assessing our performance:

Comparable store sales - Comparable store sales provide a measure of sales growth for stores open at least one year over the comparable prior year period. In fiscal years following those with 53 weeks, including Fiscal 2007, the prior year period is shifted by one week to compare similar calendar weeks. A store is included in comparable store sales in the thirteenth month of operation. However, stores that have a gross square footage increase of 25% or greater due to a remodel are removed from the comparable store sales base, but are included in total sales. These stores are returned to the comparable store sales base in the thirteenth month following the remodel.

Our management considers comparable store sales to be an important indicator of our current performance. Comparable store sales results are important to achieve leveraging of our costs, including store payroll, store supplies, rent, etc. Comparable store sales also have a direct impact on our total net sales, cash and working capital.

Gross profit - Gross profit measures whether we are optimizing the price and inventory levels of our merchandise. Gross profit is the difference between net sales and cost of sales. Cost of sales consists of: merchandise costs, including design, sourcing, importing and inbound freight costs, as well as markdowns, shrinkage, certain promotional costs and buying, occupancy and warehousing costs. Buying, occupancy and warehousing costs consist of: compensation, employee benefit expenses and travel for our buyers; rent and utilities related to our stores, corporate headquarters, distribution centers and other office space; freight from our distribution centers to the stores; compensation and supplies for our distribution centers, including purchasing, receiving and inspection costs; and shipping and handling costs related to our e-commerce operation. Any inability to obtain acceptable levels of initial markups or any significant increase in our use of markdowns could have an adverse effect on

our gross profit and results of operations.

Operating income - Our management views operating income as a key indicator of our success. The key drivers of operating income are comparable store sales, gross profit and our ability to control selling, general and administrative expenses.

Store productivity - Store productivity, including net sales per average square foot, sales per productive hour, average unit retail price, conversion rate, the number of transactions per store, the number of units sold per store and the number of units per transaction, is evaluated by our management in assessing our operational performance.

Inventory turnover - Our management evaluates inventory turnover as a measure of how productively inventory is bought and sold. Inventory turnover is important as it can signal slow moving inventory. This can be critical in determining the need to take markdowns on merchandise.

Cash flow and liquidity - Our management evaluates cash flow from operations, investing and financing in determining the sufficiency of our cash position. Cash flow from operations has historically been sufficient to cover our uses of cash. Our management believes that cash flow from operations will be sufficient to fund anticipated capital expenditures and working capital requirements.

Results of Operations

Overview

We achieved our fourteenth consecutive quarter of record sales and earnings during the 13 weeks ended August 4, 2007 (the second quarter). Net sales increased 17% over the prior year to \$703.2 million.

During the second quarter, we discontinued assessing a service fee on inactive gift cards. As a result, we estimate gift card breakage and recognize revenue in proportion to actual gift card redemptions as a component of net sales. We recorded \$4.8 million in revenue related to gift card breakage during the current period, which had the effect of increasing gross profit and operating income by a comparable amount. This amount included cumulative breakage revenue related to gift cards issued since the introduction of our gift card program in 1998.

Operating income as a percent to net sales decreased 80 basis points from the prior year to a rate of 17.4%. The decrease was driven primarily by a decline in gross profit, as a percent to net sales. Net income for the second quarter increased 13% to \$81.3 million, or 11.6% as a percent to net sales.

Our business is affected by the pattern of seasonality common to most retail apparel businesses. The results for the current and prior periods are not necessarily indicative of future financial results.

The following table shows the percentage relationship to net sales of the listed line items included in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

	13 Weeks Ended		26 Weeks Ended	
	August 4,	July 29,	August 4,	July 29,
	2007	2006	2007	2006
Net sales	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
Cost of sales, including certain buying, occupancy and warehousing expenses	55.0	54.3	53.3	52.9
Gross profit	45.0	45.7	46.7	47.1
Selling, general and administrative expenses	23.7	23.7	24.5	24.6
Depreciation and amortization expense	3.9	3.8	4.0	4.0
Operating income	17.4	18.2	18.2	18.5
Other income, net	1.3	1.5	1.5	1.5
Income before income taxes	18.7	19.7	19.7	20.0
Provision for income taxes	7.1	7.7	7.5	7.9
Net income	11.6%	12.0%	12.2%	12.1%

The following table shows our consolidated store data for the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 and July 29, 2006.

	26 Week	26 Weeks Ended	
	August 4, 2007	July 29, 2006	
Number of stores:			
Beginning of period	911	869	
Opened	20	18	
Closed	(3)	(4)	
End of Period	928	883	
Total gross square feet at end of period	5,350,468	4,911,192	

Our operations are conducted in one reportable segment. The American Eagle segment consists of 919 U.S. and Canadian retail stores (including five aerie stand-alone stores), ae.com and our nine MARTIN + OSA retail stores. At the end of the current period, MARTIN + OSA was determined to be immaterial for classification as a separate reportable segment.

Comparison of the 13 weeks ended August 4, 2007 to the 13 weeks ended July 29, 2006

Net Sales

Net sales increased approximately 17% to \$703.2 million from \$602.3 million last year. The sales increase was primarily due to an increase in comparable store sales, a 9% increase in gross square feet due to new stores and remodels, as well as an increase in sales from our e-commerce operation.

During the second quarter, we experienced a low single-digit increase in our transaction value, driven by a mid single-digit increase in units per transaction and partially offset by a slight decrease in our average unit retail price. Comparable store sales increased in the high single-digits in our men s business and decreased in the low single-digits in the women s business over last year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased 15% to \$316.4 million from \$275.3 million last year. However, as a percent to net sales, gross profit declined by 70 basis points to a rate of 45.0%. Our merchandise margin declined by 50 basis points primarily due to an increase in markdowns partially offset by a strong initial mark-up. Buying, occupancy and warehousing costs increased by 20 basis points, as a percent to net sales, primarily due to rent expense relating to upcoming aerie store openings, as well as incremental costs associated with transitioning our e-commerce fulfillment in-house to our Ottawa, Kansas distribution center. Share-based compensation expense included in gross profit was \$1.4 million both this year and last year.

Our gross profit may not be comparable to that of other retailers, as some retailers include all costs related to their distribution network as well as design costs in cost of sales and others may exclude a portion of these costs from cost of sales, including them in a line item such as selling, general and administrative expenses. See Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of our accounting policy regarding cost of sales, including certain buying, occupancy and warehousing expenses.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 17% to \$166.4 million from \$142.8 million, but remained flat as a percent to net sales at a rate of 23.7%. Improvements in store payroll and lower incentive compensation were offset by an increase in store supplies and professional services, as a percent to net sales. Share-based compensation expense included in selling, general and administrative expenses decreased to \$5.8 million, compared to \$6.3 million last year.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense, as a percent to net sales, increased to 3.9% for the second quarter, compared to 3.8% for the corresponding period last year. Depreciation and amortization expense increased to \$27.4 million, compared to \$23.2 million last year. The increase in expense is primarily due to an increase in our property and equipment base driven by our increased level of capital expenditures.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net decreased to \$8.8 million from \$9.0 million primarily due to a gift card program change that occurred in July 2007. Prior to July 8, 2007, we recorded gift card service fee income in other income, net. As of July 8, 2007, we discontinued assessing a service fee on inactive gift cards and now record estimated gift card breakage revenue in net sales. For the 13 weeks ended August 4, 2007 and July 29, 2006, we recorded gift card service fee income of \$0.2 million and \$0.5 million, respectively, in other income, net.

Provision for Income Taxes

The effective tax rate declined to approximately 38% from 39% last year. The decrease was primarily due to an increase in tax exempt interest income during the 13 weeks ended August 4, 2007.

Net Income

Net income increased 13% to \$81.3 million, or 11.6% as a percent to net sales, from \$72.1 million, or 12.0% as a percent to net sales last year. Net income per diluted common share increased to \$0.37 from \$0.31 in the prior year. The increase in net income was attributable to the factors noted above.

Comparison of the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 to the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006

Net Sales

Net sales increased approximately 17% to \$1.316 billion from \$1.125 billion last year. The sales increase was primarily due to a 9% increase in gross square feet from new stores and remodels, a comparable store sales increase, as well as an increase in sales from our e-commerce operation.

We experienced a low single-digit increase in our transaction value, driven by a low single-digit increase in units per transaction. Our average unit retail price was flat, compared to the corresponding period last year. Comparable store sales increased in the high single-digits in our men s business and in the low-single digits in the women s business over last year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased 16% to \$614.9 million from \$529.6 million last year. However, as a percent to net sales, gross profit declined by 40 basis points to a rate of 46.7%. Our merchandise margin decreased by 20 basis points primarily due to an increase in markdowns and the impact of presenting the cost of merchandise sell-offs and the related proceeds on a gross basis in the current period (see Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements), partially offset by an improved markon. Amounts for prior periods were not adjusted to reflect the change in the presentation of merchandise sell-offs as the amounts were determined to be immaterial. Buying, occupancy and warehousing costs increased by 20 basis points, as a percent to net sales, primarily due to incremental costs associated with transitioning our e-commerce fulfillment in-house to our Ottawa, Kansas distribution center. Share-based compensation expense included in gross profit increased to approximately \$3.3 million, compared to \$3.2 million last year.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 17% to \$323.4 million from \$277.4 million, but improved by 10 basis points, as a percent to net sales, to a rate of 24.5%. The improvement in the rate was primarily due to lower incentive compensation, as a percent to net sales, partially offset by an increase in professional services. Share-based compensation expense included in selling, general and administrative expenses increased to approximately \$16.4 million, compared to \$12.9 million last year.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense, as a percent to net sales, remained flat at a rate of 4.0%, compared to last year. However, depreciation and amortization expense increased to \$52.9 million, compared to \$44.7 million last year. The increase in expense is primarily due to an increase in our property and equipment base driven by our increased level of capital expenditures.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net increased to \$20.1 million from \$17.1 million primarily due to increased investment income resulting from improved investment returns. Additionally, we realized a \$0.9 million foreign currency translation loss last year, related to the final settlement of National Logistics Services. These increases were partially offset by a \$3.5 million realized capital gain last year, related to investments that were classified as trading securities prior to being sold during the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006.

Provision for Income Taxes

The effective tax rate decreased to approximately 38% from approximately 39% last year. The decrease in the effective tax rate is primarily due to an increase in tax exempt interest income this year and the additional tax liability recorded during the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006 related to the anticipated repatriation of unremitted Canadian earnings, which had the effect of increasing the effective tax rate last year.

Net Income

Net income increased 18% to \$160.1 million, or 12.2% as a percent to net sales, from \$136.3 million, or 12.1% as a percent to net sales last year. Net income per diluted common share increased to \$0.71 from \$0.60 in the prior year. The increase in net income was attributable to the factors noted above.

Income Taxes

Effective February 4, 2007, we adopted FIN 48. As a result of adopting FIN 48, we recorded a net liability of approximately \$13.3 million for unrecognized tax benefits, which was accounted for as a reduction to the beginning balance of retained earnings as of February 4, 2007.

We placed the second phase of our Ottawa, Kansas distribution center into service in May 2007. As a result, we are eligible for approximately \$2.5 million of nonrefundable incentive tax credits in Kansas. These credits can be utilized to offset future Kansas income taxes and will expire in 10 years. These available credits are not currently utilizable due to existing credit carryovers and the level of income taxes paid to Kansas. Additionally, use of these credits is dependent upon our meeting certain requirements in future periods. Due to the contingencies related to the future use of the credits, we believe that it is more likely than not that the benefit of this asset will not be realized within the carryforward period. Thus, a full valuation allowance of \$2.5 million has been recorded as of August 4, 2007.

For the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006, the remaining \$0.5 million of a \$1.4 million valuation allowance that had been previously recorded against a capital loss deferred tax asset was released. We were able to realize sufficient capital gains to fully utilize the capital loss carry forward prior to its expiration in July 2006.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our uses of cash are generally for working capital, the construction of new stores and remodeling of existing stores, information technology upgrades, distribution center improvements and expansion, the purchase of both short and long-term investments, the repurchase of our common stock and the payment of dividends. Historically, these uses of cash have been funded with cash flow from operations. Additionally, our uses of cash include the construction of our new corporate headquarters and the development of MARTIN + OSA and aerie by American Eagle. In the future, we expect that our uses of cash will also include new brand concept development.

Our growth strategies include continued expansion of the American Eagle Brand, internally developing new brands and the possibility of acquisitions. We periodically consider and evaluate these options to support future growth. In the event we do pursue such options, we could require additional equity or debt financing. There can be no assurance that we would be successful in closing any potential transaction, or that any endeavor we undertake would increase our profitability.

The following sets forth certain measures of our liquidity:

	August 4, 2007	February 3, 2007	July 29, 2006
Working Capital (in 000 s)	\$777,932	\$ 737,790	\$ 827,069
Current Ratio	3.48	2.59	3.42
Cash Flows from Operating Activities			

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled \$14.5 million for the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007, compared to \$327.6 million for the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006. Our major source of cash from operations was merchandise sales. Our primary outflows of cash for operations were for the payment of operational costs and the purchase of inventory.

The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities of \$313.1 million from the prior year was primarily due to proceeds from the sale of trading securities of \$184.0 million received during the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006, as well as a \$62.8 million increase in cash used for the payment of accounts payable and a \$40.2 million increase in cash used for accrued liabilities. The increase in cash used for the payment of accounts payable resulted primarily from a change in payment terms and method with our foreign buying agent, which also resulted in a reduction to the available amounts that we maintain under our unsecured letter of credit facility as discussed below. The increase in cash used for accrued liabilities resulted primarily from a reduction in our accrued income and other taxes as a result of payments made during the current period.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Investing activities for the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007 included \$387.0 million from the net sale of investments classified as available-for-sale, partially offset by \$120.3 million for capital expenditures. Investing activities for the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006 included \$103.1 million for capital expenditures, as well as \$17.0 million for the net purchase of investments classified as available-for-sale.

We invest primarily in tax-exempt municipal bonds, taxable agency bonds, corporate notes and auction rate securities with an original maturity up to five years and an expected rate of return of approximately a 5.8% taxable equivalent yield. We place an emphasis on investing in tax-exempt and tax-advantaged asset classes and all investments must have a highly liquid secondary market and a stated maturity not exceeding five years.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash used for financing activities resulted primarily from \$197.0 million used for the repurchase of our common stock and \$38.2 million used for the payment of dividends during 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007. During the 26 weeks ended July 29, 2006, cash used for financing activities resulted primarily from \$28.1 million used for the payment of dividends.

Credit Facilities

During the second quarter, we reduced the amount available under our unsecured letter of credit facility (the facility) to \$100.0 million and eliminated a \$40.0 million unsecured demand line of credit (the line). The interest rate on the facility is at the lender s prime lending rate (8.25% at August 4, 2007) or at LIBOR plus a negotiated margin rate. No direct borrowings were required against the line for the current or prior periods. At August 4, 2007, letters of credit in the amount of \$13.4 million were outstanding on the facility, leaving a remaining available balance of \$86.6 million. We also have an uncommitted letter of credit facility for \$100.0 million with a separate financial institution. At August 4, 2007, letters of credit in the amount of \$51.1 million were outstanding on this facility, leaving a remaining available balance of \$48.9 million.

Capital Expenditures

We expect capital expenditures for Fiscal 2007 to be approximately \$240 million to \$260 million. This will relate primarily to the construction of new stores and remodeling of existing AE stores. Additionally, we will continue to support our infrastructure growth by investing in information technology upgrades at our home office, construction of our new corporate headquarters in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, and the completion of our Ottawa, Kansas distribution center.

For the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007, capital expenditures of \$120.3 million included \$58.2 million related to investments in our stores, including 14 new AE stores in the United States and Canada, four new MARTIN + OSA stores, two new stand-alone aerie stores and 34 remodeled AE stores in the United States. The remaining amounts included approximately \$17.4 million for the construction of our new corporate headquarters, \$14.9 million related to information technology upgrades at our home office, \$13.5 million for the purchase of a corporate aircraft and \$11.7 million for construction at our Ottawa, Kansas distribution center.

In the second half of Fiscal 2007, we will invest in the construction of an additional 35 new aerie stand-alone stores, 18 new AE stores in the United States and Canada, 10 new MARTIN + OSA stores and the remodeling of approximately 19 AE stores in the United States. Additionally, we will continue to primarily invest in distribution center improvements and expansion, information technology upgrades and the construction of our new corporate headquarters.

Stock Repurchases

On March 6, 2007 and then, additionally, on May 22, 2007, our Board authorized a total of 30.0 million shares of our common stock to be repurchased under our share repurchase program through the end of Fiscal 2009. During the 26 weeks ended August 4, 2007, we repurchased 6.5 million shares of our common stock for approximately \$184.8 million, at a weighted average share price of \$28.41. As of August 4, 2007, we had 23.5 million shares available for repurchase.

Subsequent to the second quarter of Fiscal 2007, we repurchased 2.4 million shares of our common stock under the March 6, 2007 and May 22, 2007 repurchase authorizations. The shares were repurchased for approximately \$58.5 million, at a weighted average share price of \$24.34. As of September 4, 2007, we had 21.1 million shares available for repurchase under the May 22, 2007 authorization. These shares may be repurchased at our discretion.

During each of the 26 week periods ended August 4, 2007 and July 29, 2006, we repurchased approximately 0.4 million shares from certain employees at market prices totaling approximately \$12.2 million and \$7.6 million, respectively. These shares were repurchased for the payment of taxes in connection with the vesting of share-based compensation, as permitted under the 2005 Plan and the 1999 Plan.

All of the aforementioned share repurchases have been recorded as treasury stock.

Dividends

During the second quarter of Fiscal 2007, our Board declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.10 per share, which was paid on July 13, 2007. Subsequent to the second quarter of Fiscal 2007, our Board declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.10 per share payable on October 12, 2007 to stockholders of record at the close of business on September 28, 2007. The payment of future dividends is at the discretion of our Board and is based on earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital requirements, changes in U.S. taxation and other relevant factors. It is anticipated that any future dividends paid will be declared on a quarterly basis.

Obligations and Commitments

Disclosure about Contractual Obligations

As a result of the adoption of FIN 48 on February 4, 2007, our gross liability for unrecognized tax benefits was approximately \$48.1 million, including approximately \$8.8 million of accrued interest and penalties. The gross liability as of August 4, 2007 was \$56.4 million, including approximately \$10.2 million of acrued interest and penalties. We estimate that approximately \$4.0 million of this amount will be paid within one year. We are unable to reasonably estimate the amount or timing of payments for the remainder of the liability. Other than the adoption of FIN 48, there have been no significant changes to the Contractual Obligations table which was included in our Fiscal 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our critical accounting policies are described in Item 7, *Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations*, and in the notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended February 3, 2007 contained in our Fiscal 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Any new accounting policies or updates to existing accounting policies as a result of new accounting pronouncements have been discussed in the notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The application of our critical accounting policies may require management to make judgments and estimates about the amounts reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Management uses historical experience and all available information to make these estimates and judgments, and different amounts could be reported using different assumptions and estimates.

Impact of Inflation/Deflation

We do not believe that inflation has had a significant effect on our net sales or our profitability. Substantial increases in cost, however, could have a significant impact on our business and the industry in the future. Additionally, while deflation could positively impact our merchandise costs, it could have an adverse effect on our average unit retail price, resulting in lower sales and profitability.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

There were no material changes in our exposure to market risk from February 3, 2007. Our market risk profile as of February 3, 2007 is disclosed in Item 7A, *Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk*, of our Fiscal 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management including our Principal Executive Officer and our Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.

In connection with the preparation of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as of August 4, 2007, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based upon that evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and our Principal Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 13 weeks ended August 4, 2007 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

In addition to the updated risk factors below, risk factors that affect our business and financial results are discussed within Item 1A of our Fiscal 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our ability to continue our current level of sales and earnings growth

With our Fiscal 2007 second quarter, we achieved 14 consecutive quarters of record-high sales and earnings. Our gross margin and operating margin rates are also near historic highs and exceed most of our industry peers. Although it is difficult to maintain this level of performance or to continue to reach higher levels, we have growth initiatives that we are pursuing to achieve our goal of increasing earnings per share by at least 15% per year over the long term. Nonetheless, our product offerings are constantly changing and our success is directly dependent on customer acceptance of these new offerings. If our future product offerings are not as well accepted by our customers, our financial performance may decline until we are able to improve our product. A decline in our financial performance could result in a decline in the price of our common stock.

Our ability to grow through new store openings and existing store remodels and expansions

Our continued growth and success will depend in part on our ability to open and operate new stores and expand and remodel existing stores on a timely and profitable basis. During Fiscal 2007, we plan to open approximately 32 new American Eagle stores in the U.S. and Canada, 37 aerie stores and 14 MARTIN + OSA stores. Additionally, we plan to remodel or expand approximately 53 existing American Eagle stores during Fiscal 2007. Accomplishing our new and existing store expansion goals will depend upon a number of factors, including the ability to obtain suitable sites for new and expanded stores at acceptable costs, the hiring and training of qualified personnel, particularly at the store management level, the integration of new stores into existing operations and the expansion of our buying and inventory capabilities. There can be no assurance that we will be able to achieve our store expansion goals, manage our growth effectively, successfully integrate the planned new stores into our operations or operate our new and remodeled stores profitably.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS. Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information regarding our repurchases of our common stock during the 13 weeks ended August 4, 2007.

	Total	Average Price Paid	Total Number of Shares Purchased as	Maximum Number of Share that May
Period	Number of Shares Purchased (1)	Per Share (2)	Part of Publicly Announced Programs (1)(3)	Yet be Purchased Under the Program (1)(3)
Month #1 (May 6, 2007 through June 1, 2007)	1,721,474	\$ 27.61	1,700,000	25,500,000
Month #2 (June 2, 2007 through July 7, 2007)	2,000,000	\$ 26.26	2,000,000	23,500,000
Month #3 (July 8, 2007 through August 4, 2007)	683	\$ 25.82		23,500,000
Total	3,722,157	\$ 26.88	3,700,000	23,500,000

- (1) Shares purchased during Month #1 include 1.7 million repurchased as part of our publicly announced share repurchase program and 21,474 shares repurchased from employees for the payment of taxes in connection with the vesting of share-based payments. Shares purchased during Month #2 include 2.0 million repurchased as part of our publicly announced share repurchase program. During Month #3, the Company repurchased 683 shares from employees for the payment of taxes in connection with the vesting of share-based payments.
- (2) Average price paid per share excludes any broker commissions paid.
- (3) On March 6, 2007, our Board authorized the repurchase of 7.0 million shares of our common stock. This repurchase authorization does not have an expiration date. On May 22, 2007, our Board authorized the repurchase of 23.0 million shares of our common stock. This authorization expires at the end of Fiscal 2009.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

(a) We held our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders on June 12, 2007. Holders of 197,317,442 shares of our common stock were present in person or by proxy, representing approximately 90% of our 220,315,491 shares outstanding on the record date.

(b) and (c) The following persons continue to serve as Class I directors: Michael G. Jesselson, Roger S. Markfield and Jay L. Schottenstein; and the following persons continue to serve as Class II directors: Janice E. Page, J. Thomas Presby, and Gerald E. Wedren. The following persons were elected as Class III members of the Board of Directors to serve a three year term until the annual meeting in 2010 or until their successors are duly elected and qualified. Each person received the number of votes for or the number of votes with authority withheld indicated below.

Name	Shares For	Shares Withheld
Jon P. Diamond	183,545,904	13,771,538
Alan T. Kane	196,075,159	1,242,283
Cary D. McMillan	195,462,305	1,855,137
James V. O Donnell	192,812,179	4,505,263

The proposal to amend and restate the Company s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of shares of authorized common stock from 250 million to 600 million passed. It received 158,149,805 shares for, 38,765,893 against and 401,744 shares abstain.

The proposal to ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm passed. It received 197,076,932 shares for, 114,063 shares against and 126,447 shares abstain.

(d) Not applicable.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.

- * Exhibit 3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended
 - Exhibit 4.1 See Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, in Exhibit 3.1 hereof
- * Exhibit 15 Acknowledgement of Independent Registered Accounting Firm
- * Exhibit 31.1 Certification by James V. O Donnell pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
- * Exhibit 31.2 Certification by Joan Holstein Hilson pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
- ** Exhibit 32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- ** Exhibit 32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

^{*} Filed with this report.

^{**} Furnished with this report.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: September 6, 2007

American Eagle Outfitters, Inc.

(Registrant)

By: /s/ James V. O Donnell James V. O Donnell

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ Joan Holstein Hilson Joan Holstein Hilson

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, AE Brand (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)